1988

Mary Jean Freebairn v. J. Russell Scott and Le R Burton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of this appeal is conferred by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (Replacement Vol. 9 1987). The appeal was filed in the Supreme Court of the State of Utah and poured over by order of the Supreme Court on September 27, 1988.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This appeal arises out of an action by an adjudicated incompetent person, Mary Jane Freebairn, against her former guardian, J. Russell Scott, for an accounting and surcharge on account of a wrongful acquisition and subsequent resale by the guardian of property of the estate. Le R Burton gave a guardianship bond and was named as a defendant in that capacity. The claims were heard by The Honorable John A. Rokich, Third District Judge, commencing January 12, 1988. The court found for the defendants, and judgment was entered dismissing plaintiff's action.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is a sale of real property void as a matter of law where (a) the seller was declared incompetent within a few weeks after executing an agreement to sell the property; (b) the buyer petitioned for appointment as the seller's guardian and was declared the seller's guardian before a deed

was given; (c) the deed was signed by the seller after she was declared incompetent; and (d) no judicial approval of the sale nor confirmation of the sale was sought by the guardian?

2. Did Mary Jane Freebairn have the mental capacity to enter into a contract to sell her property to Russell Scott and to execute a conveyance to him?

3. Did the sale unfairly benefit Mr. Scott as the dominant party to a confidential relationship?

4. Should a constructive trust be imposed upon the proceeds of Mr. Scott's sale of the land he traded for Miss Freebairn's property?

STATUTES REQUIRING INTERPRETATION

Provisions of Former Utah Probate Code:

§ 75-13-32. Duties of guardian of property. A guardian of the property must keep safely the property of his ward. He must not permit any unnecessary waste or destruction of the real property, nor make any sale of such property without the order of the court, but must, so far as it is in his power, maintain the same, with its buildings and appurtenances, out of the income or other property of the estate, and deliver it to the ward at the close of his guardianship in as good condition as he received it, natural wear and tear excepted. (Emphasis supplied).

§ 75-13-33. Power to sell, mortgage and lease. Every guardian must manage the estate of his ward, frugally and without waste, and apply the income and profits thereof, as far as necessary, for the comfortable and suitable maintenance and support of the ward and his family, if any; and if such income and profits are insufficient for that purpose, the guardian may sell, mortgage or lease the real estate, upon obtaining an order of the court therefor, as provided, and must

apply the proceeds thereof as far as may be necessary for the maintenance and support of the ward and his family, if any. (Emphasis supplied).

§ 75-13-41. Sales, mortgages and leases. When a sale of the property a ward is necessary to maintain him or his family, or to maintain and educate the ward when a minor, or to pay the debts and expenses of guardianship, or when it appears to the satisfaction of the court that it is for the best interests of the estate that the real or personal property, or some part thereof, be sold, mortgaged or leased, the guardian may mortgage or lease the same, upon an order of the court; and the guardian without an order of sale and without confirmation may sell such personal property of the ward as is in decedent estates to be sold without confirmation; and the guardian without an order of sale, but subject to confirmation of the court, may sell other personal property and the real property of the ward. The provisions of this title respecting the selling, mortgaging and leasing of the property of decedents and the powers, duties, rights and obligations thereby conferring and imposed shall, as far as applicable, govern the selling, mortgaging and leasing of property under guardianship (Emphasis supplied.)

§ 75-10-2. Sale to be reported to and confirmed by court. All sales must be reported under oath to, and confirmed by, the court before the title to the property sold passes, except as hereinafter otherwise provided.

§ 75-10-3. Sales - Report and confirmation. The executor or administrator may sell any property of the estate without order of the court, at either public or private sale and with or without notice as he may determine, but must make return of such sales in all cases; and if directions are given in the will as to the mode of selling, or the particular property to be sold, such direction must be observed. In any case, no title passes unless the sale is confirmed by the court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

J. Russell Scott petitioned the Third District Court for Salt Lake County on February 27, 1971 for a declaration that Mary Jean Freebairn was incompetent and requested appointment as her guardian. The petition was granted on March 22, 1971. In April, 1983, Miss Freebairn brought an action to terminate Mr. Scott's guardianship of her, for an accounting of sums paid to and disbursed by Mr. Scott during the guardianship, and for a surcharge for damages arising out of the wrongful disposition of her property. Mr. Le R Burton was named as a defendant as a person who gave a bond to ensure Mr. Scott's performance as guardian. After a hearing in October, 1983, the court removed Mr. Scott as guardian and required him to prepare an accounting. The court found that Miss Freebairn remained incompetent, however, and ordered the appointment of new conservators, (The enactment of the new Probate Code changed the applicable nomenclature). The Department of Social Services was appointed conservator of her person and substitute conservators were appointed conservators of her estate.

The action for damages in the nature of a surcharge was set down for hearing. By order of October 28, 1987 the Honorable John A. Rokich approved Miss Freebairn's retention of counsel of record to represent the interest of her estate in

this matter. The claim against Mr. Scott was the subject of a hearing commencing January 12, 1988. On March 11, 1988, Judge Rokich issued a Memorandum Decision with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and a Final Judgment in favor of the defendant was entered April 29, 1988. This appeal by the plaintiff followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The sale of Mary Jean Freebairn's property to Russell Scott is invalid as a matter of law for three reasons. First, Mr. Scott as Miss Freebairn's guardian, was not permitted to purchase property of his ward. Second, court approval of the sale was never obtained, and the lack of an order authorizing the sale invalidates it. Finally, once a guardian was appointed, Miss Freebairn lost the legal capacity to validly deed away her property, and thus the deed she gave to Mr. Scott was void.

2. Even if the transactions were not invalid as a matter of law, they fail because Miss Freebairn lacked the requisite mental capacity to contract or execute a deed. The trial court's finding to the contrary is clearly erroneous because the judicial finding of incompetency raised, at the very least, a presumption of lack of capacity which was not rebutted by the evidence.

3. If the transaction is not set aside for either of the foregoing reasons, it should be nullified since it resulted from a breach of a confidential relationship. It is indisputable that the plaintiff and defendant were parties to a confidential relationship. A presumption therefore arose that the transaction was unfair. This presumption was not rebutted because the evidence was overwhelming that the property was sold for less than its fair market value, that improper deductions were taken from the purchase price, and that Mr. Scott profited significantly by his acquisition of his incompetent ward's property. The very same property resold less than a year after the disputed transaction for more than twice what the plaintiff was paid.

4. As Miss Freebairn's guardian, Mr. Scott is deemed to have held her property in trust, and a constructive trust should be imposed upon the profit he earned when he traded her property for another parcel and then sold that parcel at a profit.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Plaintiff Mary Jean Freebairn and defendant J. Russell Scott are first cousins. Their mothers were sisters. They both inherited real property from a common uncle, Samuel Russell in 1957. The property was undeveloped

land at the mouth of Little Cottonwood Canyon in Salt Lake County. Mr. Scott inherited approximately four hundred and fifty acres and Miss Freebairn, approximately sixty acres (Tr. 4-6).

2. Some time in the early sixties or previously, Miss Freebairn began exhibiting signs of a mental disease which has been variously described as paranoid schizophrenia or a paranoid delusional disorder (Tr. 334-335; 486).

3. Prior to January, 1971, Miss Freebairn made the following assertions to Mr. Scott, which illustrate her disorder:

A group of people she referred to as "the gang" or "the Cannon Committee" was "after her." (Tr. 55, 90). The group included former governor James D. Cannon and his wife, Elaine Cannon. (Tr. 61) She thought they were trying to "get her." (Tr. 55) She thought she was followed (Tr. 59) and spied upon. (Tr. 56) She believed that the editor of the Deseret News, Mr. William Smart, deliberately placed objectionable messages about her in the newspaper in the form of cartoons and other material with hidden meanings to defame her. (Tr. 56-57).

Miss Freebairn told Mr. Scott that her phone was bugged and that there was a television camera placed in her bathroom through which people observed her. (Tr. 58).

Miss Freebairn indicated that she believed that she was "watched over" by Stuart Udall who flew airplanes over her home for her protection. (Tr. 61-62). Mr. Scott was aware that Miss Freebairn had written the Department of Justice, the Federal Bureau of Investigation and Senator Frank Moss about these problems. (Tr. 60-61, 63)

4. Miss Freebairn corresponded with a number of people prior to January, 1971, about these matters, and some of her letters were received in evidence. (Exhibit 11, Tr. 60). They include LDS Church authorities, law enforcement agencies, Mr. Cannon and Mr. Udall. In one letter she explained that during a two-year period from 1966 to 1968 she was required, on account of interference by the "Cannon Committee" to change dressmakers, find a new physician, a new lawyer, a new insurance agent, a new bank, and a new hair dresser (Ex. 11, P. 0000124, Tr. 60). She also explained that in February 1967, the Newspaper Agency Corporation had placed an industrial spy on the staff of "Field and Stream Magazine" in New York in order to force her to resign a job she had held for one month. (Ex. 11, Page 0000128, Tr. 60). She stated that the Newspaper Agency Corporation learned in November, 1967 that she was about to hire a New York attorney to sue them but that the Newspaper used cartoons of a threatening nature to let her know that she

could expect "evil consequences" for doing so. (Exhibit 11, P.0000129, Tr. 60). Examples of her correspondence which were received into evidence are included as Appendix "A".

5. Mr. Scott was told some time prior to July 1969 that psychiatric treatment had been recommended for Miss Freebairn. (Tr. 64).

6. During the 1950's and early sixties, Miss Freebairn was intermittently a student at Columbia University in New York City, but never earned a degree, and was intermittently employed in the East and in Salt Lake City. (Tr. 262-267). Her last employment in Utah was in 1960 with the BYU Adult Education Center. She believes she was required to leave that job on account of negative reports to her employer from her enemies at the Deseret News, and recalls that her employer told her, "I don't think you're going to get beyond their reach." (Tr. 201).

7. Miss Freebairn's first business dealings with Mr. Scott occurred in June and October, 1964. She told him she was in debt and needed to borrow money. She executed an agreement in June to sell Mr. Scott ten acres of her property which adjoined Danish Road, with an option to repurchase. The sales price was \$3,000 an acre. In October she was in debt again and sold another five acres at the same price, with a similar option to repurchase. (Tr. 10-15). The option to

repurchase was extended until September, 1965 because Miss Freebairn believed that there were developers who wanted to build another Disneyland on her property. (Tr. 15-16, Tr. 181). No one on behalf of Walt Disney ever contacted Mr. Scott about building another Disneyland on her property or his. (Tr. 16).

8. In 1966, Mr. Scott formed the Scott Investment Corporation with himself as president, his wife as vice president and Mr. Le R Burton as secretary/treasurer. (Tr. 17). Mr. Burton was a realtor who represented Mr. Scott in various real estate transactions, and, in addition to serving as an officer in the Scott family corporation, had his own real estate office in an office building owned by Mr. Scott, where Mr. Scott's office was located. (Tr. 720-722).

9. Mr. Burton handled a sale of Miss Freebairn's property to a Mr. Wilstead in 1967, which included a promise by the seller to install a water line to the property. (Tr. 661-662). Burton, as Miss Freebairn's realtor, knew she was not personally able to install a water line but thought she would sell other property to raise the funds to do so. (Tr. 729).

10. When Miss Freebairn was unable to meet her obligation to install the water line, she went to her brother, Samuel Freebairn for help. (Tr. 214-215). They entered into a

verbal agreement whereby Samuel Freebairn and his wife Agnes Freebairn would purchase the bulk of his sister's remaining property, develop the property, and pay her \$3,000 per acre on a "lot release" basis, with a minimum annual payment of \$7,000. The agreement was later reduced to writing and the property was made subject to a trust agreement with Security Title Company. (Ex. 32P, Tr. 213, the trust agreement is attached hereto as Appendix "B"). Prior to the drafting of the written agreement, Russell Scott assisted Mr. Freebairn in installing the water line by loaning him money to purchase material and by performing some of the labor. The water line was installed on the property which became subject to the agreement with her brother, but moved water to the Wilstead property. (Tr. 376-377, 27-28).

11. The trust agreement between Miss Freebairn and her brother and sister-in-law was drafted by Herbert Halladay, an in-house attorney with Security Title Company, on the basis of information given to him by Samuel Freebairn in May, 1968. Among his notes from that meeting placed in his file is the statement: "Russell Scott financed water lines and Sam promised to pay him back." (Tr. 378). The written agreement itself, in the initial provision which recites the consideration given by the party, states:

AND WHEREAS approximately one year ago First Beneficiary (Miss Freebairn) verbally agreed to sell and Second Beneficiary (Mr. Freebairn, her brother) verbally agreed to purchase said premises and Second Beneficiary has heretofore caused said property to be platted and engineered and has installed some water lines which have materially assisted First Beneficiary by enabling First Beneficiary to ful-fill her commitments to provide water to Robert Wilstead and Clifford Green to whom she has heretofore sold a piece of adjoining property,

The agreement also provides that:

Second Beneficiary shall and hereby agrees to pay all costs and expenses of said subdividing including, but not limited to, surveying, platting, engineering, installation of water and sewer lines, culverting, grading and surfacing of streets and such other off-site improvements and utilities as may be required, the intent being that First Beneficiary shall be under no obligation or expense in connection therewith. Second Beneficiary further agrees to indemnify and save First Beneficiary harmless from any and all loss, cost or expense which First Beneficiary may suffer or sustain in connection with said subdividing and improvements including those heretofore installed and constructed. First Beneficiary is aware of the fact that Second Beneficiary has borrowed approximately \$15,000.00 from Russell Scott to finance the construction of said off-site improvements heretofore installed and Second Beneficiary hereby agrees to pay the same.

(Exhibit 32 P, Tr. 213).

from Agnes Freebairn her interest in those lots along with the assumption of the obligation to repay the balance of the money Samuel and Agnes had borrowed to develop the property. The agreement provided that in order to secure payment by the buyer, Miss Freebairn was to have no mortgage or remaining interest in the property. Payments of \$275 per month were to be made in the following manner:

All of the rights and benefits to seller arising as a part of this agreement are to be placed in a protective trust for the purpose of safeguarding the assets and welfare of the seller to the extent that the income she needs for personal welfare cannot be preyed upon by others. J. Russell Scott is to act personally as trustee for such trust and to receive all money and disburse it according to the instruction of the trust with general outline to be \$200 per month to seller including taxes and \$75.00 to current bills.

(Exhibit 12P, Tr. 748-750).

16. Mr. Scott testified that the \$8,000 credit on the purchase price consisted of \$6,000 which he charged Miss Freebairn for a portion of the water line loan made to Samuel Freebairn, and \$2,000 in other debts. (Tr. 79).

17. Prior to signing the agreement, Miss Freebairn had no advice from any attorney, or from anyone at Security Title. She testified that she was not prepared to discuss her

property and would sign the agreement only with the understanding that a lawyer would look at it later. She testified that she did not understand how the purchase price was calculated, and thought she should be paid more for her property. (Tr. 238-246).

18. Miss Freebairn testified that she left Mr. Burton's office without a copy of the agreement and later went to Mr. Duncan, whom she regarded as "Russell's lawyer" who told her she had already exchanged her property for an unsecured note. (Tr. 246).

19. Miss Freebairn testified that she had hoped that Stuart Udall would keep her from having to go through with the deal since he had enough money to fly planes over her house every hour, but that she was unable to reach him. She said she was sick about it. (Tr. 247-248).

20. On February 27, 1971, J. Russell Scott executed under oath a Petition for Appointment of Guardian which is attached hereto as Appendix "E." La Mar Duncan appeared on the petition as attorney for the petitioner, Mr. Scott. The petition alleges, inter alia, that Mary Jean Freebairn is incompetent and

is now living alone and is incapable,
without the assistance of some other person,
to properly manage and care for her
property, and by reason thereof, would be

likely to be deceived or imposed upon by artful or designing persons . . . that it is necessary that some fit and proper person be appointed the guardian of said incompetent, to care and properly manage the properties and estate of said incompetent.

See, Appendix D. The petition identifies as her assets the sum of \$100.00, her residence, and real property described as "raw undeveloped ground suitable for subdividing into home sites . . . of the approximate value of \$57,000.00 with an annual rental value of approximately \$600.00". No mention is made of the existence of a sales contract between Mr. Scott the petitioner, and Miss Freebairn, the alleged incompetent.

Mr. Scott read the petition before signing it. Mr. Scott took no action to determine the value of the land which is described in the petition other than to assign it the value of his purchase contract. (Tr. 100-101). Mr. Scott admitted that there was no change in Miss Freebairn's mental competency between January 13 and the earnest money agreement was signed and February 27, the date he made these allegations. (Tr. 117).

21. On March 1, 1971, a closing was scheduled and held. However, no deed was given by Miss Freebairn to the Scott Corporation because it was recognized that the property was subject to a trust agreement with Security Title Company which needed to be terminated. (Tr. 109). On that day

Miss Freebairn telephoned Herb Halladay, the Security Title Company attorney, who made the following notes about their conversation:

Duncan wants Mary Jean F. to establish a guardian for her. Alleges William Smart at Deseret News is guilty of a conspiracy ag. her. Russell Scott now tired of helping her and only has done so in the past because he wants her land. They offered her \$500.00 per month income. She said \$250.00 for her and \$250.00 for her nieces and nephews college educ. Cut value of contract about \$20,000--forcing her to pay for water pipe. William Smart involved in her life--very complicated--the xeroxing she has done would reveal the whole story. Sending people to her house at all hours to entrap her. She complained to Bruce McConkie and visit stopped.

(Exhibit 41P, Tr. 398-391) (Appendix E).

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