1988

Mary Jean Freebairn v. J. Russell Scott and Le R Burton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

C. PLAINTIFF DID NOT CONVEY TITLE TO HER PROPERTY AFTER A GUARDIAN WAS APPOINTED, AND EVEN IF SHE HAD, UTAH LAW MERELY CREATES A REBUTTABLE PRESUMPTION OF INCOMPETENCY WHEN A WARD CONVEYS REAL PROPERTY.

Plaintiff also argues that she lacked the legal capacity to convey title to her property because she signed the deed after a guardian had been appointed for her. Once again, the fallacy of this argument lies in the erroneous premise that the conveyance did not occur until the deed was signed. Plaintiff conveyed title to her property when she executed the Earnest Money Agreement and closed the sale, all of which occurred before guardianship proceedings were initiated. (See supra subsection A.) The question of whether a ward can legally convey real property after the guardianship appointment is not even at issue on the facts of this case.

Even if plaintiff's performing the formality of signing the deed after the sale was closed were to be construed as the conveyance of the real property, the fact that a guardian was appointed at that time would merely create a presumption of incompetency; it would not render the conveyance void as plaintiff suggests. Plaintiff has not cited any Utah authority for her argument that the conveyance would be void, and she cannot because Utah law is expressly to the contrary.

The Utah Supreme Court has clearly held that the appointment of a guardian is only prima facie evidence of incompetency to contract and may be rebutted. In Home Town Finance Corp. v. Frank, 13 Utah 2d 26, 31, 368 P.2d 72, 76 (1962), the court held:

[T]he appointment of a guardian is prima facie evidence of the incompetency of the ward, but . . . such prima facie [evidence] may be rebutted by evidence which shows that the ward was competent to understandingly manage his business affairs and enter into contracts at a time of making the alleged contract in question.

Accord, Brisacher v. Tracy-Collins Trust Co., 277 F.2d 519, 522-23 (10th Cir. 1960) (construing Utah law). In Brisacher, the court held that a person may meet the statutory definition of the mental condition necessary to establish a guardianship and nevertheless be competent to contract. The court stated that "the recognition by a court in Utah that a person is incompetent to manage his affairs [under U.C.A. 75-13-20] is not tantamount to an adjudication that he is incapable of intelligently entering a contract." Brisacher, 277 F.2d at 522. In addition, the Utah Supreme Court has held that "the test as to the capacity to execute a will, or trust deed, or enter into other transactions, is quite different from the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 75-13-20 (1953), relating to the appointment of a guardian." Cornia v. Cornia, 546 P.2d 890, 893 (Utah 1976) (followed in Matter of Estate of Kesler, 702 P.2d 86, 96 (Utah 1985)).

The most plaintiff can gain by arguing that a guardian was appointed when she conveyed her property is that defendants would be required to prove she was competent at the time of the

conveyance. (See infra Point IIA.) Hence, even if plaintiff were held to have conveyed her property at the time she performed the formality of signing the deed, which was after the guardianship appointment, the conveyance would not be void as a matter of law. This issue, nevertheless, remains immaterial since plaintiff conveyed ownership to the property before guardianship proceedings were even initiated.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND SHE IS UNABLE TO DO SO FOR THE REASON THAT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDINGS.

In Points II and III of Appellant's Brief, plaintiff presents questions of fact. Namely, did she have the mental capacity to sell her property? and did Mr. Scott unfairly benefit from the sale? Plaintiff argues before this court that the trial court was clearly erroneous in finding that plaintiff was competent to contract at the time she sold the property, and that the sale was fair and without fraud or undue influence. Plaintiff, however, fails to apply this standard of review, and her arguments merely recite evidence in her favor.

It is not the function of this court to hear reargument on how the evidence should have been construed at trial. Neither will this court second guess the trial court's findings and decision. Cf. City Electric v. Industrial

Indemnity Co., 683 P.2d 1053, 1059-60 (Utah 1984) (evidence is construed in a light most favorable to the judgment of the trial court). In fact, this court will affirm a trial court's decision whenever it can do so on a proper ground. Bill Nay & Sons Excavating v. Neeley Construction Co., 677 P.2d 1120, 1123 (Utah 1984).

In light of these principles, this court has stated, with respect to its review of findings of fact, that:

In order to challenge the trial court's findings of fact, an appellant must first "marshal all the evidence in support of the trial court's finding and then demonstrate that even viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings." [Citation omitted.]

Henderson v. For-Shor Co., 757 P.2d 465, 468 (Utah App. 1988). The Utah Supreme Court, in Ashton v. Ashton, 733 P.2d 147 (Utah 1987), previously expressed the same standard of appellate review to be applied to findings of fact. In Ashton, the court stated:

The court begins its analysis with the trial court's findings of fact, not with an appellant's view of the way he or she believes the facts should have been found. [Appellants] have not even begun to seriously discuss the trial court's findings that dispute their version of the facts. In Scharf v. BMG Corp., we explained the duty incumbent upon an appellant to mount a successful challenge to a trial court's findings of fact. An appellant must marshal all of the evidence in support of the trial

court's findings. Only then can we consider whether those findings are "clearly erroneous." Because [appellants] have failed to make such a showing, the trial court's findings will not be disturbed.

Id. at 150.

After mounting all the evidence in support of the trial court's findings, plaintiff must also demonstrate how the challenged findings, which are based on that evidence, are clearly erroneous. In Horton v. Horton, 695 P.2d 102 (Utah 1984), the court stated:

[T]he standard of appellate review in equity cases, even where the level of proof from the trial court is clear and convincing evidence, is that of clear preponderance. Therefore, where the evidence is in conflict, this court will not upset the findings in the trial court unless the evidence so clearly preponderates against them that this court is convinced that a manifest injustice has been done.

Id. at 105. In applying this standard, the court has stated that it is mindful of the advantaged position of the trial judge who sees and hears the witnesses. Jensen v. Brown, 639 P.2d 150, 152 (Utah 1981). Hence, there is not only indulged a presumption of correctness of the findings and judgment of the trial judge, but the findings and judgment will not be reversed where there is merely conflicting evidence. Dang v. Cox Corp., 655 P.2d 658, 660 (Utah 1982); Ovard v. Cannon, 600 P.2d 1246, 1248 (Utah 1979).

The clearly erroneous standard has been codified through the recent amendment to Rule 52 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. See Adams v. Gubler, 731 P.2d 494, 496 n. 3 (Utah 1986). Rule 52(a) reads, in pertinent part, that:

Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard should be given to the appointment of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.

The court has interpreted this language as follows:

[T]he content of Rule 52(a)'s "clearly erroneous" standard . . . requires that if the findings . . . are against the clear weight of the evidence, or if the appellate court otherwise reaches a definite and confirm conviction that a mistake has been made, the findings . . . will be set aside.

State in Interest of T.E. v. S.E., 761 P.2d 956, 957 (Utah App. 1988) (quoting State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987)).

Due to the plaintiff's failure to cite the evidence in support of the trial court's findings of fact, plaintiff is now unable to provide any argument showing how the findings are erroneous. Plaintiff has only cited to her own evidence, and she merely reargues how her evidence would support a finding in her favor. This court, therefore, is unable to consider whether the trial court's findings are based on sufficient evidence. As in Ashton, the trial court's findings should be

affirmed, since plaintiff has failed to make the necessary showing.

Even though plaintiff cannot have the findings of the trial court set aside because of her failure to consider and meet the appropriate standard of appellate review, the findings of the trial court should not be disturbed for the additional reason that they are amply supported by evidence presented at trial. Hence, plaintiff would be unable to show that the trial court's findings are clearly erroneous even if she would have tried to properly make such a showing.

A. THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT
PLAINTIFF WAS COMPETENT TO CONTRACT.

Plaintiff's arguments on the issue of her competency to contract, made in Point II of Appellant's Brief, are meritless. First, she argues that defendants had the burden to prove her competency because she was appointed a guardian at the time she signed the deed, thereby creating a presumption of incompetency. However, as discussed under Point I, supra, there is no dispute that she entered into a binding contract to sell the property, which effectively transferred title and ownership, before the guardianship proceedings were initiated. Since she did not have a guardian at the time she actually conveyed her property, the burden does not shift to defendants to prove her competency to sell the property. The rest of

plaintiff's arguments rely on this faulty premise and must, therefore, also fail.

Although defendants did not have the burden to prove that plaintiff was competent to contract, the trial court found, that in the event the defendants did have this burden because of the subsequent guardianship appointment, the evidence sufficiently showed that the plaintiff was in fact competent to contract at the time she sold her property and signed the deed. (Judgment, Law I.)

Even assuming that defendants did have the burden to prove plaintiff's competency to contract, plaintiff is also wrong in construing Utah law to require them to prove she also had the ability to make a "rational decision." The test for determining the mental capacity to contract in Utah, as set forth in Anderson v. Thomas, 108 Utah 252, 260, 159 P.2d 142, 146 (1945) which was cited by plaintiff, states as follows:

Were the mental faculties so deficient or impaired that there was not sufficient power to comprehend the subject of the contract, its nature and its probable consequences, and to act with discretion in relation thereto.

Plaintiff relies on Restatement (Second) of Contracts, § 15, to claim that the test of incompetency consists of a second part that relates to the ability to make a rational decision. No Utah case authority, however, is cited

to show that Utah accepts the bifurcated approach advocated by plaintiff or that the Utah test goes beyond the ability to understand or act with discretion in relation to one's understanding.

The test enunciated by the court in Anderson v. Thomas was again relied upon by the court in Peterson v. Carter, 579 P.2d 329 (Utah 1978). After reciting the test as set forth in Anderson, the court analyzed the evidence as follows:

Mr. Harmon testified that after having talked with Mrs. Peterson [the plaintiff], and after her various questions about the effect of the sale had been answered, "there was no question in my mind that she knew what she was doing and she wanted the home to go to Mr. and Mrs. Carter [the defendants]." After this meeting and before the actual conveyance, Mr. Harmon contacted one Anna Broadhead, Mrs. Peterson's closest living relative, to inform her of the plans to sell the property and to ask if there were any objections. Mrs. Broadhead said she thought it would be best to sell the property. Although other testimony might show Mrs. Peterson's incompetence, we are inclined to defer to the trial court's decision due to his proximity to the situation and his ability to observe the witnesses and their demeanor. [Emphasis added.]

Id. at 331. No analysis of Mrs. Peterson's ability to make a "rational decision" was made by the court. The obvious absence of a rational decision analysis was again apparent in the only

other Utah case that has relied on this test. In Anderson v. Brinkerhoff, 756 P.2d 95 (Utah App. 1988), the court merely stated in its analysis "there is no evidence that [the plaintiff] was unable to understand the nature of the proceedings or was unable to transact business." Id. at 100.

The test repeatedly used in determining the competency of a person to contract in Utah has not been construed to include a second part that requires a showing of inability to make a "rational decision" in addition to lack of understanding. Assuming, therefore, that defendant had the burden to prove plaintiff's competency to contract, defendant was not required under Utah law to present evidence that plaintiff was also able to make a "rational decision."

In addition, plaintiff's challenge of Le R Burton's and Agnes Freebairn's testimony that she was in fact competent and knew what she was doing at the time she sold her property is insufficient to disturb this finding. The trial judge is in the best position to judge the credibility of these witnesses' statements. Jensen v. Brown, 639 P.2d 150, 152 (Utah 1981). Likewise, plaintiff's inferences, drawn from Herbert Halliday's testimony, is no support for rejecting the trial court's finding that any presumption of incompetency was overcome by the evidence. It is the trial court's prerogative, not plaintiff's, to draw or reject inferences, and its conclusions

will not be disturbed on appeal. Movie Films, Inc. v. First Security Bank of Utah, 22 Utah 2d 1, 5, 447 P.2d 38, 40 (1968).

Plaintiff's final argument that the trial court's finding cannot stand because Mr. Scott took a different position in a prior proceeding is also erroneous. Defendants' present position, and the trial court's finding, is that plaintiff was competent to contract at the time she sold her property in 1971. The prior proceeding plaintiff now refers to is Weinstocks v. Mary Jean Freebairn,¹ wherein Mr. Scott asserted the defense of incompetency to contract, on behalf of plaintiff, against a claim that plaintiff contracted for goods in 1981.² Certainly the issue of competency to contract in 1971 is not the same as competency in 1981. Moreover, plaintiff's reasoning that defendant cannot now claim plaintiff was competent to contract in 1971 is faulty because she

¹The Answer attached as Appendix F to Appellant's Brief, from which plaintiff argues that Mr. Scott is taking a position which is different from an earlier position raised in a judicial proceeding, is not a part of the record below, and cannot now be brought before this court and used by plaintiff. In order to clarify the record, however, defendants are attaching as the Addendum the Complaint to which the Answer responded.

² Id. The Complaint alleges at paragraph 2 that goods were sold and delivered between January 1, 1981 and December 31, 1981.

misconstrues the court's statement in Condas v. Condas, 618 P.2d 491, 496 (Utah 1980) which she cites in support of this claim. The rule that a party cannot take a different position in a subsequent judicial proceeding applies only where the party previously obtained relief on the basis of the prior position. Id.; see also Blonquist v. Frandsen, 694 P.2d 595, 596 (Utah 1984). Plaintiff has not shown, or even argued, that defendant obtained relief on the basis of the defense asserted in the Weinstock's action.³

Plaintiff's arguments, which fail to show how the court's findings are erroneous, also fail to provide any viable reason for finding plaintiff to be incompetent to contract when she agreed to sell her property in 1971. Substantial evidence, on the other hand, supports the trial court's findings that plaintiff was competent to contract.

Defendants presented the testimony of Dr. John L. Malouff, a clinical psychologist, who stated that he tested plaintiff's "verbal intelligence." Dr. Malouff testified that this test dealt with plaintiff's "ability to reason," among

³ Although this issue is not properly before this court, defendants further inform the court, in order to clarify the baseless nature of plaintiff's argument, that Mr. Scott in fact paid Weinstock's on this claim. Hence, no relief was obtained upon the defense that plaintiff was incompetent to contract in 1981.

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